**RECEIVED**

**Mar 06 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Haigh Porter, Master-in-Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-001115  
Civil Action No. 2024-CP-21-00548

---

Shirley Reed,

Respondent,

v.

OHM Florence, LLC,

Appellant,

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Sweeny Wingate & Barrow, P.A.  
Ryan C. Holt  
Brian L. Craven  
1515 Lady Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 256-2233

Hood Law Firm, LLC  
Robert H. Hood, Jr.  
PO Box 1508  
Charleston, SC 29402-1508  
(843) 577-4435

*Attorneys for Appellant*

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did the master-in-equity err in declining to set aside default where the complaint was not properly served on the defendant?
- II. Did the master-in-equity err in declining to set aside default where good cause existed to set aside the default?
- III. Did the master-in-equity err in entering a damages award that was excessive not supported by admissible evidence?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### **The Subject Complaint**

In this action, Respondent Shirley Reed (“Respondent” or “Ms. Reed”) brought claims against OHM Florence, LLC (“Appellant” or “OHM”), alleging OHM to be liable for injuries Ms. Reed sustained when she allegedly “stepped on loose rocks in the parking lot causing her to fall to the ground backwards” at a restaurant in Florence, South Carolina called the Thunderbird Country Buffet (“Thunderbird”) on November 8, 2023. (Complaint at ¶¶ 1–2, 10, 12 (R. 38, 39)). Although Ms. Reed’s Complaint alleged upon information and belief that OHM “was in possession and control of the premises” and doing business as Thunderbird Country Buffet (*see id.* at ¶¶ 2, 7 (R. 38, 39)), OHM later submitted evidence undisputed by the parties showing that Thunderbird was a separate entity which had leased the premises from OHM for the purpose of operating the restaurant (*see* Lease Agreement, Exhibit 1 to Renewed Mot. to Set Aside Entry of Default or, Alt., for Summary Judgment and Incorp. Mem. of Law in Support (R.p. 157)).

Ms. Reed alleged three causes of action against OHM, the only named defendant: (1) premises liability to Ms. Reed as a business invitee; (2) negligence in allegedly creating, failing to remedy, or neglecting to warn of the condition presented by the alleged loose gravel; and (3) vicarious liability for the actions of the Thunderbird restaurant’s employees with respect to their duty to maintain a reasonably safe environment for customers. (*See* Compl. at ¶¶ 13–19, 20–23, 24–28 (R. 40–44)). Notably, as will be discussed in Section II of this Brief regarding OHM’s meritorious defenses as to liability, none of these causes of action are ultimately viable where OHM merely leased the subject premises to Thunderbird, which owned, operated, and maintained the restaurant.

## The Default

Ms. Reed filed her Summons and Complaint on March 5, 2024, approximately four months after the subject incident at the restaurant. (*See* Compl. at ¶ 10 (R.p. 39)). On April 25, 2024—long after the expiration of her ten-day window to do so under Rule 5(d), SCRCF—Ms. Reed filed a Certificate of Service purporting to show that on March 18, 2024, service had been effected upon Sagar Patel as registered agent for OHM at the registered address of 340 Plantation View Lane, Mount Pleasant, SC 29464. (*See* Certificate of Service (R.p. 45)). Sagar Patel, however, was not in the state of South Carolina at the time of this purported service. (*See* Amended Motion to Set Aside Default (R.p. 64–68)). Rather, as established by Mr. Patel’s affidavit and by his rental car and flight receipts, he was traveling from Denver, Colorado to Atlanta, Georgia that day. (*See id.* at Exhibits 1–4 (R.p. 69–79)). It was Mr. Patel’s accountant, Kevin Leichhardt, who resides at the registered address in Mount Pleasant with his wife, that is believed to have signed for receipt of the service of process. (*See* Transcript of March 31, 2025 Hearing at 8 (R.p. 191)).

The day after filing her certificate of purported service, April 26, 2024, Ms. Reed filed a Request for Default, citing the Certificate of Service and representing that OHM’s registered agent had accepted service on March 18, 2025. (*See* Request for Entry of Default Judgment (R.p. 46–47)). The Court entered an Order of Default on May 2, 2024, finding that “proper and good service was made upon Defendant pursuant to Rule 4(d)(1), SCRCF.” (*See* Order of Default at 1 (R.p. 1)). Ms. Reed then moved for a damages hearing. (*See* Plaintiff’s Motion and Order for Reference (R.p. 60)). On May 9, 2024, the case was referred to Judge Haigh Porter as Master-in-Equity for a damages hearing. (*See* Order Appointing Master (R.p. 5–6)).

On June 21, 2024, approximately fifty days after the entry of default (three months after the purported service of the Complaint; eight months after the subject incident), OHM filed a

Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default. (*See* Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default (R.p. 61-63)). In its motion, OHM explained, among other arguments, that prior to the purported service of the Complaint, OHM had received a preservation letter from Ms. Reed which—likely due to Ms. Reed’s misapprehension of OHM’s relationship with the Thunderbird restaurant—requested material (surveillance footage) which OHM did not possess. (*See id.*). Reasoning that it could not provide what it did not possess, OHM did not forward the document to its insurer, and when it eventually received Ms. Reed’s Complaint, OHM mistakenly concluded that responsive action was still unnecessary, and it did not forward that document to its insurer, either. (*See id.*). Upon subsequent realization of the nature and purpose of the Complaint, however, OHM’s insurer was notified and, within just a few days, retained counsel who submitted the Motion to Set Aside Default. (*See id.*).

On August 1, 2024, OHM filed an Amended Motion to Set Aside Default, which provided the court with further argumentation and evidence in favor of relief from default. (*See* Amended Motion to Set Aside Default (R.p. 64-68)). In the amended motion, OHM reiterated its prior explanation of how the default occurred and again advanced arguments showing that the factors for setting aside default under Rule 55(c), SCRPC, weighed in OHM’s favor because (1) it had promptly moved for relief, (2) it had multiple meritorious defenses to liability (such as that the elderly Ms. Reed’s already-evident difficulties with walking may have predominated in causing her injuries), and (3) Ms. Reed would not be prejudiced by allowing OHM to litigate the case and defend itself on the merits. *See generally id.* (R.p. 66)). OHM also advanced the following two additional arguments regarding service.

First, OHM argued that it had not been properly served, because under S.C. Code § 15-9-210(a), the only authorized person for service of process on a domestic corporation like OHM is

the corporation's registered agent, but OHM's registered agent in this case, Sagar Patel, was not present in the state at the time the purported service was effected. (*See* Amended Motion to Set Aside Default at 2 (R.p. 65)). As evidence in support of this argument, OHM submitted the Affidavit of Sagar Patel along with car rental and plane flight receipts, showing that Mr. Patel was traveling out of state at the time of the purported service upon him. (*See* Exhibits 1–4 to Amended Motion to Set Aside Default (R.p. 70-79)). OHM further argued that the statute does not authorize a registered agent to deputize a sub-agent for service on a corporation, and that the Rule 4(d)(1) analysis of alternate service on persons “of suitable age and discretion then residing therein” does not apply to the requirements for service upon a registered agent. (*See* Amended Motion to Set Aside Default at 2 (R.p. 65)). Because Rule 4(d)(8), SCRCF, provides that “default or judgment by default shall be set aside pursuant to Rule 55(c) or Rule 60(b) if the defendant demonstrates to the court that the return receipt was signed by an unauthorized person,” OHM argued, default should be aside in this case. (*See id.*)

Second, OHM argued that Ms. Reed was not entitled to the procedural remedy of a default judgment where she herself did not comply with the procedural rules for obtaining a default. Because allowing a plaintiff to prevail through default is an unfavored remedy that risks an inequitable outcome in favor of enforcing conformity with civil procedure, OHM argued that it should be relieved from default in this case, where Ms. Reed not only failed to fulfill service requirements, but also failed to file proof of service within ten days thereof as required by Rule 5(d), SCRCF—instead waiting thirty-eight days, almost four times the allotted period, to file her proof service. (*See* Amended Motion to Set Aside Default at 4–5 (R.p. 67-68)).

Ms. Reed filed a Memorandum in Response to OHM's amended motion to set aside the default on August 7, 2024, and a hearing was held on the motion before Judge Porter on August

12, 2024. (*See* Plaintiff’s Mem. in Response to Defendant’s Am. Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default (R.p. 80-87)). At the hearing before Judge Porter, OHM reiterated its arguments that service was not properly effected on the registered agent and that Ms. Reed had not properly followed procedural rules for obtaining a default. (*See, e.g.*, Transcript of August 12, 2024 Hearing at 5:1–7:10 (R.p. 92-94)). OHM further argued as it had in its motion that whether the default was validly entered or not, good cause existed to set it aside because OHM had timely moved for relief, OHM had meritorious defenses as to liability, and Ms. Reed would not be prejudiced by allowing the case to proceed to litigation on the merits due to the recent nature of the incident. (*See, e.g., id.* at 8:17–10:7; 12:7–16 (R.p. 95-97, 99)). Ms. Reed opposed these arguments, particularly as to whether she had properly effected service on the registered agent and whether OHM had presented evidence of meritorious defenses to liability. (*See, e.g., id.* at 13:6–20:21 (R.p. 100-07)).

Responding to the parties, Judge Porter limited his analysis to the issue of whether service had been validly effected on the registered agent, focusing on whether the defendant had received actual notice of the summons and complaint and denying OHM’s motion on that basis—never engaging with the *Wham* factors for determining whether good cause exists to set aside default. (*See* Transcript of August 12, 2024 Hearing at 22:18–27:12 (R.p. 109-14)). On September 4, 2024, the court entered an Order Denying Defendant’s Amended Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default, again basing its decision entirely on the issue of whether service had been validly effected upon the registered agent. (*See* Order Denying Defendant’s Amended Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default at 2 (R.p. 7-9)).

On September 6, 2024, OHM filed a motion to reconsider this ruling, in which it requested reconsideration of the order and noted that the court had not ruled upon several issues, including the issue of whether good cause existed to set aside default under the three-factor test. (*See* Motion

to Alter or Amend a Judgment (Rule 59(e), SCRCPP) (R.p. 118-19)). A hearing was held before Judge Porter on the motion to reconsider on October 9, 2024, at which OHM explained its need for a ruling on these issues, including whether the issue of whether good cause existed to set aside default under the *Wham* analysis. (See Transcript of October 9, 2024 Hearing at 4:9–18; 11:2–12:8 (R.p. 126, 133-34)).

Although the court’s prior order had made no mention of good cause for setting aside default, instead merely concluding that “the Court found it had personal jurisdiction over Defendant, and Defendant was properly put on notice to the proceedings” (see Order Denying Defendant’s Amended Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default at 2 (R.p. 8)), Ms. Reed contended at the hearing that this issue had been sufficiently addressed by the court already. (See Transcript of October 9, 2024 Hearing at 13:8–14 (R.p. 135) (“Your Honor, please, you referred to your Order. You found that—those factors in there. And you don’t have to go and be specific and answer all this and go over all this again. Your Honor, your Order was sufficient. It’s good enough to stand up on appeal.”)). Judge Porter did not address the issues presented by OHM during the hearing, but indicated an intention to review the record and examine the *Wham* case before issuing an order. (See *id.* at 14:13–16:24 (R.p. 136-38) (“This doesn’t answer your questions.... But, anyway, I will take this under advisement, and I’ll go back and fine-tooth nail this—the record in this, as well as some of my materials on some of these cases that you folks—in particular, the *Wham* case.”)). The court’s subsequent October 30, 2024 Form 4 Order denying the Motion to Reconsider, however, did not address the issue of good cause. (R.p. 11-16).

On March 20, 2025, OHM filed a Renewed Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default or, Alternatively, for Summary Judgment and Incorporated Memorandum of Law in Support. (R.p. 148-54). With that motion, OHM produced new evidence to the court in the form of a copy of the

lease agreement between OHM and Thunderbird (*see* Lease Agreement, Ex. 1 to OHM’s Renewed Motion (R.p. 155-75)). OHM explained that in 2018 the Lease Agreement turned over general control of the subject premises to its lessee, Thunderbird, including such general obligations as landscaping and sweeping, while retaining only certain structural obligations such as maintenance of the parking lot, roof, and exterior walls, as is typical of a commercial lease. (*See* Renewed Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default or, Alternatively, for Summary Judgment and Incorporated Memorandum of Law in Support at 4–5 (R.p. 151-52)). Citing cases showing that lessors are not typically liable to their lessee’s invitees for conditions on the leased property under premises liability,<sup>1</sup> OHM argued that it thus had another strong meritorious defense counseling in favor of relief from the disfavored remedy of default judgment, further asserting that OHM should properly be entitled to summary judgment. (*See id.*).

### **The Damages Hearing**

A hearing was held on both OHM’s renewed motion for relief from default and on Plaintiff’s claimed damages on March 31, 2025. (*See* Transcript of March 31, 2025 Hearing (R.p. 184-260)). At the hearing, the parties appeared again before Judge Porter, and OHM argued that

---

<sup>1</sup> Generally, the owner of land, who possesses “superior knowledge of conditions on the premises within his control,” has a duty to warn others “of latent hazardous conditions on his land.” *Byerly v. Connor*, 307 S.C. 441, 443, 415 S.E.2d 796, 798 (1992). But if the owner of the land leases his property to another, “the law of property regards the lease as equivalent to a sale of the premises for the term of the lease[;] [i]n the absence of an agreement to the contrary, the lessor surrenders possession and control of the land to the lessee.” *Id.* Once the lessor surrenders the premises in good condition, he “typically is not responsible for hazardous conditions which thereafter develop or are created by the lessee.” *Id.* Courts have thus routinely held that lessors are not liable for the injuries caused by purportedly hazardous conditions that developed after the lessor turned over the premises to its lessee. *See, e.g., Byerly* at 443 (lake owner had no duty to discover and warn of a latent hazardous condition which it did not create and about which it had no knowledge); *Smith v. Oil Ship, Inc.*, Case No. 2:22-cv-3877-RMG, 2023 WL 122029, at \*2 (D.S.C. Jan. 5, 2023) (no possibility lessor was liable to plaintiff for slip and fall claims which arose after the premises was delivered to the lessee in good condition).

the Lease Agreement it had submitted to the court constituted new evidence of OHM's meritorious defenses against liability, supporting good cause to set aside default. (*See id.* at 4:18–6:19; 10:24–11:4 (R.p. 187-89, 193-94)). Ms. Reed contended that sweeping the premises should be considered OHM's obligation under the lease as part of its obligation to maintain the parking lot, roof, and exterior walls of the premises. (*See id.* at 6:20–7:11 (R.p. 189-90)). Ms. Reed then raised the issue of service on the registered agent as previously argued by the parties (*see id.* at 7:12–10:2 (R.p. 190-93)), to which OHM responded (*see id.* at 9:5–9; 10:6–24 (R.p. 192, 193)). Judge Porter denied the motion on the record without comment. (*See id.* at 11:5 (R.p. 194)).

The court then invited Ms. Reed to present evidence of her damages. (*See id.* at 11:6 (R.p. 194)). Ms. Reed proceeded to enter a number of items into evidence against the objections of OHM on grounds of failure to authenticate the evidence. Specifically, Ms. Reed (1) entered medical records as evidence on the assumption they were related to the subject incident absent any authenticating testimony by Ms. Reed or any medical provider, despite OHM's objection that the elderly and ailing Ms. Reed had numerous serious health problems ongoing before the subject incident occurred and also afterward (*see, e.g., id.* at 11:6; 26:2–27:2; 37:19–54:13 (R.p. 194, 209-10, 220-37)); (2) entered purported medical bills into evidence without authenticating testimony from any party who was responsible for paying the alleged bills or seeking payment for the alleged bills—where a witness for Ms. Reed admitted no bills had yet been paid and where the purported bills contained language stating that they were not, in fact, bills (*see, e.g., id.* at 15:13–20; 22:1–22:18; 25:3–27:2 (R.p. 198, 205, 208-10)); and (3) entered power of attorney documents with no testimony from any witness who created, signed, or witnessed the documents (*see, e.g., id.* at 16:5–18:5; (R.p. 199-201)).

Ms. Reed then proceeded to offer expert testimony in the form of a medical cost projection report by her expert, Vanessa Teachey, despite OHM's objections as to the reliability and, by extension, admissibility, of the report. (*See id.* at 54:17–75:14 (R.p. 237-58)). In opining on alleged future medical costs in her report, Ms. Teachey relied heavily on the cost of residence at a skilled nursing facility, which she projected to be \$9,939 per month. (*See id.* at 65:9–23 (R.p. 248)). But the medical records previously submitted by Ms. Reed showed that she was already residing at a skilled nursing facility at less than one-fifth this cost, \$1,700 per month. (*Id.* at 63:21–65:1 (R.p. 246-48)). When cross-examined on this issue, Ms. Teachey admitted that she was not even aware that Ms. Reed was currently residing in a skilled nursing facility. (*Id.* at 63:12–14 (R.p. 246)). The court did not rule on OHM's objection to Ms. Teachey's testimony during the hearing, and it made no finding as to the reliability of Ms. Teachey's report. (*See id.* at 75:9–14 (R.p. 258)). Ultimately, Ms. Reed purported to show \$1.14 million in medical bills and additional future medical costs. (*See id.* at 68:2–7 (R.p. 251)).

On April 14, 2025, Judge Porter entered an Order of Judgment with a corresponding Form 4 Order of the same date, in which he denied OHM's renewed motion for relief from default and awarded Ms. Reed a judgment against OHM of well over four million dollars (\$4,161,541.00). (R.p. 17-18, 23-27). Neither order dealt individually with OHM's evidentiary objections or made any finding as to the reliability of Ms. Reed's expert's future cost report, on which the Order or Judgment relied. (*See* Order of Judgment at 5 (R.p. 27)).

OHM filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Pursuant to Rule 59(e) or, in the alternative, Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to Rule 60(b) on April 24, 2025. (R.p. 503-07). In that motion, OHM asserted that the damages award was excessive and unsupported by the evidence, moved that the court reconsider its order, and requested definitive rulings on several issues that had not

been directly ruled upon, including whether the purported service satisfied S.C. Code § 15-9-210(a); whether good cause existed to set aside default; whether Ms. Reed's proffered medical records, purported medical bills, power of attorney documents were properly authenticated; and whether Ms. Reed's proffered expert medical cost projection was reliable and admissible. (*See id.* (R.p. 503-06)).

Ms. Reed filed a memorandum in opposition to OHM's motion on April 28, 2025. (*See* Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Alter or Amend or in the Alternative Motion for Relief from Judgment (R.p. 508-13)). On May 15, 2025, Judge Porter entered a Form 4 Order denying OHM's motion to reconsider or for relief from judgment. (R.p. 30-31). This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

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