RECEIVED

Oct 09 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

W. Haigh Porter, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2024-CP-21-00548
Appellate Case No. 2025-001115

Shirley Reed, Respondent,

v.

OHM Florence, LLC d/b/a Thunderbird Country Buffet, Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John S. Nichols
SC Bar No. 4210
john@bluesteinattorneys.com
J. Clarke Newton
SC Bar No. 77887
clarke@bluesteinattorneys.com
Bluestein Thompson Sullivan, LLC
PO Box 7965
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 7797599

Rodney C. Jernigan, Jr.
SC Bar No. 2994
rod@jerniganlaw.net
Jernigan Law Firm, PA
PO Box 2130
Florence, SC 29503

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

ARGUMENTS

I. DEFENDANT WAIVED ANY ISSUE REGARDING PERSONAL JURISDICTION BY MAKING A VOLUNTARY APPEARANCE IN THIS MATTER

Defendant appeared, moved to set aside the default on a new ground (an affirmative defense), sought summary judgment, sought dismissal, cross-examined Ms. Reed on liability and damage issues, closed on the sufficiency of the damages evidence, and requested a zero verdict. Defendant has thus voluntarily appeared and waived any issue regarding personal service. This Court therefore may therefore decline to address any issue related to the propriety of service upon Defendant.

Although a court commonly obtains personal jurisdiction by the service of the summons and complaint, it may also obtain personal jurisdiction if the defendant makes a voluntary appearance. *Stearns Bank Ass'n v. Glenwood Fall, LP*, 373 S.C. 331, 337, 644 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 2007), citing Rule 4(d), SCRPC (“Voluntary appearance by defendant is equivalent to personal service.”). The Court in *Stearns Bank* explained:

* * * “The term ‘appearance’ is used particularly to signify or designate the overt act by which one against whom suit has been commenced submits himself to the court’s jurisdiction.” 4 Am.Jur.2d *Appearance* § 1 (1995). “An appearance may be expressly made by formal written or oral declaration, or record entry, or it may be implied from some act done with the intention of appearing and submitting to the court’s jurisdiction.” *Id.* No specific act constitutes an appearance, as “a defendant may choose to come into court with trumpets, or quietly by the back door.” *Stephens v. Ringling*, 102 S.C. 333, 342, 86 S.E. 683, 685 (1915). Accordingly, courts decide on a case by case basis whether a defendant’s act demonstrates an intent to submit to the court’s jurisdiction.

Stearns Bank, at 338, 644 S.E.2d at 796 (emphasis added). Compare *New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. The Bey Corp.*, 312 S.C. 47, 49, 435 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1993) (finding defendant did not voluntarily appear where defendant’s appearance at the hearing “was limited to setting aside the

default” and “the thrust of [defendant’s] presentation of evidence addressed the requirement of showing a basis for setting aside the default”).

In this case, Defendant did more than simply appear to present evidence or argument in support of its motion to set aside the default due to allegedly defective service of process.¹ Defendant renewed its motion to set aside default but not on the basis of alleged defective service. (Motion filed March 20, 2025). Instead, Defendant sought the affirmative relief of summary judgment in the alternative. (Motion filed March 20, 2025, pp. 1, 6; Tr. p. 4, ll. 18-24).

At the damages hearing, Defendant’s counsel stated, “what we’re doing here today is raising an additional ground with respect to success on the merits.” (Tr. p. 5, ll. 9-11). Defendant provided the court with a copy of the lease covering the property and argued Ms. Reed could not recover against a lessor, an affirmative defense that must be raised prior to default. (Tr. p. 5, l. 12 - p. 6, l. 11; Motion of March 20, 2025, p. 6). *But see Bardoan Props., NV v. Eidolon Corp.*, 326 S.C. 166, 170-71, 485 S.E.2d 371, 373-74 (1997) (holding because a defendant had not raised the issue of whether he was a real party in interest prior to the entry of default, the argument was waived). Defendant’s counsel stated, “on that basis, we ask the Court again to set aside the [default] *and dismiss O.H.M. Florence from this case.*” (Tr. p. 6, ll. 16-19) (emphasis added). Thus, Defendant voluntarily appeared and sought affirmative relief from the Court, which the

¹ In support of its amended Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default filed August 1, 2024, Defendant included the hearsay affidavit of Pernell Applewhite, who described an “understanding of the events ... based on a discussion with Louvinia Taylor, a cook at the on-site restaurant who witnessed the events and described them to me...” (Amended Motion of 8/1/2024, Attachment). The Motion indicates both Mr. Applewhite and Ms. Taylor are “persons who can be further questioned about the case...” (Amended Motion, p. 4). Thus, Defendant was interviewing witnesses and offered this evidence in support of a defense on the merits, not in support of a claim of lack of effective personal service. This is further support for a finding of a voluntary appearance.

Court denied. (Tr. p. 11, l. 5).

At the hearing on damages, Defendant again did not limit its participation to issues related to the sufficiency of service of process and personal jurisdiction. Instead, Defendant objected to Ms. Reed's evidence related to damages (Tr. p. 16, ll. 15-17; p. 16, l. 21 - p. 17, l. 1; p. 17, ll. 12-16; p. 19, l. 25 - p. 20, l. 3; p. 22, ll. 1-17; p. 25, l. 21 - p. 26, l. 10; p. 27, ll. 9-15) and vigorously cross-examined the witnesses on the damages testimony. (Tr. p. 33, l. 23 - p. 36, l. 19; p. 42, l. 3 - p. 54, l. 10; p. 61, l. 22 - p. 66, l. 3). At the close of Ms. Reed's case Defendant's counsel stated:

Your Honor, the defendant, of course, consistent with the law in this state, does not have a case to present at this time *and has asked the Court, though, to consider its questions on cross-examination.*

(Tr. p. 66, ll. 10-14) (emphasis added).

Furthermore, Defendant did not limit its cross-examination to the extent of damages. *See Palmetto Const. Grp., LLC v. Restoration Spec., LLC*, 444 S.C. 328, 349, 907 S.E.2d 129, 140 (Ct. App. 2024) (a defendant in default admits liability but not the damages). Counsel cross-examined Ms. Reed's daughter-in-law, who was with Ms. Reed the day of the fall, about the facts of the fall (a liability issue). (Tr. p. 36, l. 4 - p. 39, l. 1). Counsel stated that although there was no dispute "about the fact that a fall happened" (Tr. p. 39, ll. 21-22) and "something going on with her being able to get in the van." (Tr. p. 40, ll. 19-20; see also p. 40, l. 23 - p. 41, l. 11).

Defendant's counsel also did not limit his closing argument to the issue of the propriety of service upon Defendant but argued against the foundation of damages evidence (Tr. p. 72, ll. 9-12) and the sufficiency of the damages evidence itself. (Tr. p. 72, ll. 12-24). This included criticism of Ms. Reed's "cost projection" evidence. (Tr. p. 72, l. 25 - p. 73, l. 8). Counsel

disputed the evidence under the actuarial tables (Tr. p. 73, ll. 10-12) and asked the Court not to consider other verdicts. (Tr. p. 73, ll. 13-24). Finally, Defendant's counsel requested the affirmative relief of a "zero damages" verdict. (Tr. p. 73, ll. 24-25).

This participation indicated an intent to generally appear and defend up to and beyond the extent permitted a party in default who intends to challenge only service of process. *E.g.*, *Limehouse v. Hulsey*, 404 S.C. 93, 116, 744 S.E2d 566, 578 (2013) (the Court adhered to the procedures adopted in *Howard v. Holiday Inn, Inc.*, 271 S.C. 238, 246 S.E.2d 880 (1978) (in a default damages proceeding defense counsel's participation is limited to cross-examination and objection to plaintiff's evidence);). Defendants actions constitute a voluntary appearance as contemplated by Rule 4(d), SCRCPP, which is equivalent to personal service. *Stearns Bank*.

Although the Master did not rule on this issue, it serves as an additional reason to affirm the Master's decision to proceed to judgment. *See Covil Corp. v. Pennsylvania Nat. Mut. Cas. Ins. Co.*, 444 S.C. 117, 125 n. 2, 906 S.E.2d 558, 562 n. 2 (2024) (citing *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) ("[A] respondent—the 'winner' in the lower court—may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.") and Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR ("Respondent's brief ... may contain argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing in the record as provided by Rule 220(c).")).

The Court should therefore decline to address any of Defendant's arguments regarding the sufficiency of service of process.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THE ENTRY OF DEFAULT WAS PROPER AS DEFENDANT HAD BEEN PROPERLY SERVED WITH THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT BUT FAILED TO RESPOND

Defendant contends that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-210(a) (2005) mandates service *only* upon the registered agent of a domestic corporation and does not permit anyone else (even if designated by the agent) to accept service. That is, “that registered agent is the *only* person authorized to accept service of process for the corporation.” (App. Br. pp. 14-15). The Circuit Court and the Master in Equity both rejected this argument. This Court should affirm.

Section 15-9-210 provides:

(a) A domestic business or nonprofit corporation’s registered agent is the agent of the corporation for service of any process, notice, or demand required or permitted by law to be served, and the service is binding upon the corporation.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-210(a). Defendant contends this statute does not authorize the appointment of a “‘sub-agent’ or other persons to receive service of process on behalf of the registered agent or the corporation” (App. Br. p. 14), and the **ONLY** way to serve a domestic corporation is by actual service upon the statutory registered agent. The Court should reject this specious argument.

Defendant conspicuously omits a key provision in the statute, which provides:

(d) This section does not prescribe the only means, or necessarily the required means, of serving a domestic business or nonprofit corporation.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-210(d). That is, the statute itself belies Defendant’s argument.

Furthermore, as found by both courts below, Ms. Reed obtained proper service upon Defendant. Rule 4(d)(8), SCRCPP, permits service upon a defendant by certified mail, return receipt requested and delivery restricted to the addressee. The Rule provides further that:

Service pursuant to this paragraph shall not be the basis for the entry of default or a judgment by default unless the record contains a return receipt showing the acceptance by the defendant. Any such default or judgment shall be set aside pursuant to Rule 55(c) or Rule 60(b) if the defendant demonstrates to the court that the return receipt was signed by an unauthorized person.

Rule 4(d)(8), SCRCF. When the defendant is a corporation or partnership, Rule 4 provides further:

(d) Summons: Personal Service. The summons and complaint must be served together. The plaintiff shall furnish the person making service with such copies as are necessary. Voluntary appearance by defendant is equivalent to personal service; and written notice of appearance by a party or his attorney shall be effective upon mailing, or may be served as provided in this rule. Service shall be made as follows:

* * *

(d)(3) Corporations and Partnerships. Upon a corporation or upon a partnership or other unincorporated association which is subject to suit under a common name, by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to an officer, a managing *or* general agent, *or* to any other agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process and if the agent is one authorized by statute to receive service and the statute so requires, by also mailing a copy to the defendant.

Rule 4(d), SCRCF. Therefore, pursuant to Rule 4(d)(3), proper service upon a corporation is accomplished by delivering the summons and complaint to any one of the following persons: (1) an officer; (2) a managing agent; (3) a general agent; (4) any other agent authorized by appointment; OR (5) any other agent authorized by law to receive service of process. That is, contrary to Defendant's contention, there are multiple candidates for obtaining valid service upon a domestic corporation in South Carolina. Defendant's argument that the statutory registered agent is the ONLY valid person to receive service on a corporation is absurd, and completely ignores not only Section 15-9-210(d) but also the plain language of Rule 4(d).

Even so, a plaintiff need only show compliance with the rules. *Roberson v. Southern Finance of SC*, 365 S.C. 6, 615 S.E.2d 112 (2005). When the civil rules on service are followed, there is a presumption of proper service. *Id.*; *Graham Law Firm v. Makawi*, 396 S.C. 290, 721 S.E.2d 430 (2012). Exacting compliance with the rules is not required to effect service of process. *Richardson v. P.V., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 615, 682 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2009). *See, e.g., Roche v. Young Bros., Inc., of Florence*, 318 S.C. 207, 211-212, 456 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1995) (“Rule 4(d)(8) requires that the return receipt be restricted to the addressee and show acceptance by the defendant. The rule simply does not require the specific addressee to sign the return receipt.”). In this case, Plaintiff’s return receipt was restricted to the addressee, Mr. Patel, and the receipt demonstrates acceptance by the defendant (*i.e.*, through delivery to an officer or agent appointed to receive service who signed Mr Patel’s name).

Of course, once the plaintiff has demonstrated compliance with the rules, the defendant can rebut an inference that service was effected only by showing that the return receipt was signed by an unauthorized person. *Graham Law Firm*, citing Rule 4(d)(8), SCRPC. As the Supreme Court explained in *Graham Law Firm*:

The class of persons authorized to sign on behalf of defendants is narrow: “Actual appointment for the specific purpose of receiving process normally is expected and the mere fact a person may be considered to act as defendant’s agent for some purpose does not necessarily mean that the person has authority to receive process.” *Moore v. Simpson*, 322 S.C. 518, 473 S.E.2d 64 (Ct. App.1996). *Service on an employee is effective when the employee has apparent authority to receive it on behalf of the employer. See Richardson v. P.V., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 682 S.E.2d 263 (2009) (holding that hotel receptionist had authority to receive service of process where she was only employee present in office, which represented to third parties that she was in charge).

An agent’s high level of actual or apparent responsibility suffices to permit service to be effective as against the principal. *See Richardson, supra; Roberson*

v. Southern Finance of South Carolina, Inc., 365 S.C. 6, 615 S.E.2d 112 (2005) (holding that service on clerical employee of registered agent was improper); *Burris Chemical, Inc. v. Daniel Construction Co.*, 251 S.C. 483, 163 S.E.2d 618 (1968) (finding that an acting general superintendent in charge of fifteen men was an agent upon whom service could be made). This Court has also held service on a corporate officer effective as against the corporation. *Roche, supra*.

Graham Law Firm, at 295-296, 721 S.E.2d at 433. (emphasis added).

Whether an employee may accept service on behalf of a corporation depends on the authority the corporation conferred upon the employee. *Richardson*, at 615, 383 S.E.2d at 615. In order to determine whether an employee is an authorized agent, the court must look to the circumstances surrounding the relationship and find authority which is either express or implied from the type of relationship between the defendant and the alleged agent. *Id.*, citing *Moore v. Simpson*, 322 S.C. 518, 523, 473 S.E.2d 64, 67 (Ct. App. 1996). While actual authority is expressly conferred upon the agent by the principal, apparent authority is when the principal knowingly permits the agent to exercise authority, or the principal holds the agent out as possessing such authority. *Richardson*, citing *Roberson*, 365 S.C. at 10-11, 615 S.E.2d at 115.

In this case, Defendant asserts “[t] was Mr. Patel’s accountant, Kevin Lighthouse, who resides at the registered address in Mount Pleasant with his wife, that is believed to have signed for receipt of the service of process.” (App. Br. p. 3; Tr. p. 8, ll. 6-21). Mr. Lighthouse, however, is the accountant for the Defendant, OHM Florence, LLC. (Memorandum in Opposition of 4/28/2025, Exh. 1, ¶ 1).

Mr. Patel placed Mr. Lighthouse in a position to accept service of the pleadings and therefore impliedly, if not expressly, authorized him to sign the green card. Mr. Lighthouse immediately forwarded the pleadings to Mr. Patel, who then forwarded them to his insurance

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